THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Alison R. Lee, Circuit Court Judge

FEB 13 2017
SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No. 2016-001031

Alvin L. Menie, Appellant,

v.

State Accident Fund, Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Preston F. McDaniel, Esquire
SC Bar #: 3770
MCDANIEL LAW FIRM
1315 Elmwood Avenue
Columbia, South Carolina 29201
(803) 771-7211

Attorney for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. DID THE COMMISSION ERR AS A MATTER OF LAW BY FAILING TO AWARD THE CLAIMANT BENEFITS WHERE HE PROVED BY A PREPONDERANCE OF THE EVIDENCE THAT HE HAD SUSTAINED INJURY BY ACCIDENT AS DEFINED UNDER S.C. CODE §42-1-160 AND WHERE THERE IS ABSOLUTELY NO SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE TO THE CONTRARY ON THE FUNDAMENTAL ISSUE FOR DECISION, I.E., INJURY BY ACCIDENT DUE TO "UNUSUAL OR EXTRAORDINARY" CONDITIONS OF EMPLOYMENT, AS THE COMMISSION'S DECISION TO THE CONTRARY IS BASED ON SURMISE, SPECULATION AND INNUENDO?

- II. DID THE COMMISSION ERR AS A MATTER OF LAW BY RELYING ON THE TESTIMONY OF MR. ADAIR AND THAT PART OF MR. MURPHY'S IN REFERENCE TO THE AUDITOR POSITION, CONCERNING DIFFERENT TIMES AND UNDER DIFFERENT CONDITIONS OF EMPLOYMENT, TO MAKE FINDINGS OF FACT ON THE CONDITIONS OF APPELLANT'S EMPLOYMENT AT THE TIME OF THE INJURY BY ACCIDENT?

- III. DID THE COMMISSION ERR AS A MATTER OF LAW BY MAKING A GENERAL FINDING OF FACT THAT, "LABOR TURNOVER, ILLNESS OF CO-WORKERS AND COMPUTER PROBLEMS ARE COMMON TO ALMOST ALL WORK ENVIRONMENTS AND ARE NOT UNUSUAL"?

- IV. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR BY FINDING THAT THE LIMITED RECORDS REVIEW PERFORMED BY DR. ZILES WHICH WAS SUBMITTED OVER OBJECTION AS BEING, AND AS BEING BASED ON, HEARSAY CONSTITUTED SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT THE COMMISSION'S DECISION ESPECIALLY WHERE THERE IS NO EVIDENCE IN THE RECORD THAT IT WAS CONSIDERED AS SUCH OR GIVEN ANY WEIGHT BY THE HEARING COMMISSIONER OR THE COMMISSION?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Claimant, Mr. Menie, filed a renewed request for hearing on May 12, 2011. (R. p. 59-60). The Defendants filed a responsive Form 51 alleging reasons for denial are: "Claimant did not sustain any compensable accidental injuries within the course and scope of his employment. Specifically, the Claimant's job duties did not rise to a level of unusual or extraordinary such that they caused his alleged injuries/condition". (R. p. 61). (Emp. add.). Numerous hearings were set and reset and this matter came to be heard on January 30, 2012 (R. p. 614). The Claimant timely filed his Pre-Hearing Brief/APA Submissions on January 13, 2012 and Defendants filed their Pre-Hearing Brief/APA Submissions on January 20, 2012. (R. p. 63-263; 264-451). Following the hearing held on January 30, 2012 the Commissioner issued his Request for Proposed Order on March 2, 2012 (R. p. 808) and filed his Decision denying benefits on April 11, 2012. (R. p. 1). A Form 30 Request for Commission Review was filed April 30, 2012 alleging eighteen (18) Grounds for Review which encompassed all issues on appeal. (R. p. 452). Claimant filed his Appellant's Brief, Defendants filed a responsive Brief and this matter was heard by the Full Commission on August 28, 2012. (R. p. 457; 486; 763). After a Request for a proposed Order from Defense Counsel affirming the Hearing Commissioner's Decision, with correction of a

Scrivener's error, the Full Commission Panel filed its Decision on November 29, 2012. (R. p. 21). A Petition and Notice of Appeal, alleging all eighteen (18) Grounds for Review presented to Full Commission plus additional legal errors raised as to the procedure/Order of the Full Commission, was filed December 12th, 2012. (R. p. 504).

After numerous hearings were set and reset by the Circuit Court, all of which had to be continued due to the failure of the Workers' Compensation Commission to forward the Record to the Circuit Court as required by Rule 75, SCRCF, "Record on Appeal to the Circuit Court: Transmittal", the Honorable James R. Barber, III, on April 14, 2014 issued his Order ordering: the SC Workers' Compensation Commission to forward the Record to the Court within seven (7) days of the date of the Order; the parties to follow up with the Clerk's office to confirm receipt; and that this matter was to be reset for hearing with no less than thirty (30) days' notice after receipt before a Non-Jury Term of Court. (R. p. 34-39). The matter was set and after Briefs from Appellant and Defendants, this matter was heard on June 20, 2014 by the Honorable Alison R. Lee. (R. p. 512; 547; 779). At the hearing, all issues of law and fact before the Commission as raised on appeal were argued; after which Judge Lee issued her Order on November 3, 2015 affirming the Decision of the Commission. (R. p. 40). After receipt of the Order, the

Appellant timely filed Motions pursuant to Rule 59(a)(e) and Rule 60(b) on December 3rd noting receipt of the Order of the Court by Appellant on November 23rd, and per the direction of the Court, a Memorandum in Support of Motions was filed on December 14th. After withdrawal of an Order dated 12-28-15 and review of the additional Memorandum of Law submitted, the Motion for New Trial and/or to Vacate and Remand were denied but the Court amended its Order finding the Commission had committed error of law in the admission of testimony from Mr. Adair finding, "Upon further review of the Record, the Court agrees with Menie that the Commission committed an error by admitting and relying upon Adair's testimony" but denied the Motion for New Trial or to reverse on the basis that the, "Court is not relying on Adair's testimony in finding that substantial evidence exists in the Record to support the Commission's Decision" and holding that the admission was harmless although the Commission Findings of Fact and Decision were specifically based in part upon Mr. Adair's testimony. (R. p. 52). Timely Notice of Intent to Appeal was filed and this matter is before this Court for Decision. (R. p. 582).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Perfect Storm. First, it is undisputed that in the Fall of 2002 there were three (3) auditors in the Auditing Department of the State Accident Fund to do all of the required auditing

work: Mr. Al Menie, Ms. Carla Johnson and Ms. Shaun Holmon. As of the last week of December 2002 both Ms. Carla Johnson and Ms. Shaun Holmon were no longer in the Auditing Department of the Fund leaving Mr. Menie alone to do all of the auditing work and other responsibilities of the Auditing Department. Ms. Holmon took a job with the State Retirement System as a Customer Service Manager and Ms. Johnson went out on sick leave due to a severe back problem requiring surgery. (See Transcript quotes hereinafter).

Second, it is undisputed that in December of 2002 the State Accident Fund advised all of its premium accounts that they would incur a huge rate increase which would average 24.7% effective January 1, 2003. This was the first rate increase in many years and was the largest increase in the history of the State Accident Fund. (R. p. 63; 633; 624, 11. 16-24; 639, 1. 23 - 640, 1. 18, 1).

Third, it is undisputed that the State Accident Fund was implementing a new computer system at that time and that the State Accident Fund was not using NCCI classifications codes but was using its own classification codes that had to be entered, checked and corrections made and then re-entered many times before they were usable and would work in the new system. (See Transcript quotes hereinafter). This problem greatly added to the workload of the auditors. [NCCI stands for National Council

of Compensation Insurers which publishes a set of classification codes used nationally to classify all jobs into categories. Jobs in a given category are rated at so much per \$100 of salary to determine the premium owed. For example, carpenter rate, \$10/\$100; \$30,000.00 annual salary = \$3,000.00 premium.]

Ms. Holmon who testified for Mr. Menie testified that she had been with the State Accident Fund for fifteen (15) years before leaving to take a position with the Retirement System. At the time she left she was a premium auditor and had been in that position for years. (R. p. 625, ll. 3-21).

In reference to the duties of a premium auditor with the State Accident Fund in 2002 she testified:

"Q: Tell me about how the team concept was supposed to work.

A: Well, it was divided up into 3 or 4 teams. They were assigned accounts, perhaps based on a geographical location, and this particular team was responsible for those accounts from beginning to end as far as those employers, policy holders of the State Accident Fund. You had a group of adjusters, and they would adjust the claims. Had a safety rep, had the premium auditor responsible for the premium, and, you know, several assistants for the most part for the claims adjusters. The concept was set up based on these people, were solely responsible for these 200-plus accounts, any and everything as it related to their workers' comp premium with us, policy.

Q: In reference to emails, mail, communications, questions that had to do with anything in reference to the auditing function, if it came

in from those accounts, who would handle that within the auditing department?

A: Only the premium auditor."

(R. p. 626, ll. 2-23). (Emp. add.)

As to the responsibilities of the auditors and the effect a change in the premium would have on a State or local agency she testified:

"Q: Tell me what an auditor for the State Accident Fund in 2002 under this team concept did we understand premium audits, that type of thing. I'm going to ask you something about scheduling in a minute. But first off, just tell me what all that entailed other than . . . including the audits, but what all it entailed.

A: Well, we generated their premium. The State Agencies were on an F-Y schedule; cities, counties, municipalities on a calendar. And so they received an estimate at the beginning of the policy period, and they received an audit at the end of the policy period, or after the policy period had expired. Of course, with those 200-plus accounts, whether you were discussing the base amount based on those class codes for that type of business, it was our responsibility to assign that, to defend it or justify it, as well as the experience modifier.* In the event that the employer questioned their experience modifier, as to why it was so high or whatever, it was our responsibility to explain that. Those usually consisted of meetings.

(R. p. 627, ll. 4-25).

*(Experience modifier also referred to as E-Mods).

- Q: Tell me what would generally cause an auditor to go out and have a meeting with an account?
- A: Well, I think the State -- most of the -- for the most part the State Agencies were the worst because you are talking about huge organizations with a lot of payroll - Department of Corrections, Mental Health, D.S.N. and so they could very well have a million-dollar base premium based on those class codes for that industry, but the experience modifier, the e-mod, took into account the frequency and severity of those claims. SO instead of that premium being for one year, 1,000,000, if they had a 2.0 e-mod it would double, or on occasion they would triple. And so, you were called out to that Agency, and they'd kind of blindsided you because you would be under the impression that you were meeting with an H.R. person and when you walked into the room they would have a C.P.A., they'd have their Director and their Benefits Administrator, and you're actually just there to break this down to them to help them understand and justify the numbers. And the numbers weren't always justifiable. Now, hopefully we would hone in on that before we went out there. You could make corrections. But any time someone would challenge the validity of your class codes or your e-mod, you know, it was a problem. Sometime several meetings before conclusion.
- Q: So, on a year-to-year basis if somebody's e-mod went up you could pretty well expect a call?
- A: They more or less had to call just to keep their job in a lot of instances because, you know there are a couple of people -- especially a huge agency, you know. They've got Benefits Administrators, and for some of them that may be their only job. If it's a small organization, they might be doing workers' comp and a number of other things. You know, they have a Safety Rep. who is, you know, responsible for decreasing those claims

as well. So, chances are if it -- you know, and especially if it dramatically increased from one year to the next, I mean, you would actually have to go out on occasion and show them every claim, and they would want to challenge, well, this should have been -- shouldn't have this reserve on it because it was closed, so it should only reflect what you paid on it. But if somebody -- you know, and every year was different as far as perhaps, the customers that would have those kinds of complaints or concerns for meetings because the mod would change every year. So, in a given year it was hard to say, you know, how many of those would occur. It just depended on the organization, the people that were in charge and, you know, based on their request.

Q: But would it be safe to say that anytime there was a significant change in the rate of any of the Agencies that would put an additional stress on those Agency personnel to -- because of the increase in the budget and the problems that it caused for their budgets; is that correct?

A: Oh, definitely. I had Greenville Sanitation tell me once that they were going to have to let somebody go just to pay their workers' compensation premium."

(R. p. 628, ll. 13-17, l. 24).

In a letter to their policy holders, senior premium auditor

A.L. Menie wrote,

"Effective January 1, 2003 rates increased an average of 24.7 percent. This is the first base rate increase since 1996"

(R. p. 63). (Emp. add.)

Ms. Holmon agreed that there had been no significant rate increases and that this was the largest rate increase to her

knowledge ever in the history of the Agency and that the 24.7% rate increase would generate all types of calls and questions from every Agency to determine whether or not their rate was going to increase and would cause them to argue about whether or not they should be reclassified. She testified generally concerning all the variations and things that would be on the accounts' minds and about which they would be calling as this could cause many people their jobs and cause Agencies to absolutely not be able to meet their budgets. (R. p. 633, ll. 13-23, l. 11).

Next, she also testified about the new computer system that was put in place in 2002:

Q: . . . There was a new computer system that came in, in 2002. Tell me what that did to -- did it just come off the ground smoothly or did you all have problems with it?

A: Unfortunately, from what I recall I think we just got the wrong vendor. The other company didn't reach the bid process on time or something. But, you know, we -- the computer system that we got, at that time it had a lot of glitches, the premium piece. They -- you know, I think they had the claims piece down, that model. But the premiums, it was a lot of work. It was a lot of -- there were a lot of glitches in the system and the only way to ensure initially that these E-Mods were correct -- because everyone else in the State, they had -- normally they go through NCCI. So NCCI, they are generating those E-Mods. Well, we generated our own E-Mods, and it was an unstable computer as far as this new program. Like everything else, it had to iron out the kinks. We would actually have to test them

because it took awhile before that system was fully functional."

(R. p. 638, l. 7 - 639, l. 4).

She went on to explain that data had to be reentered numerous times and that it generated a lot of additional meetings over the validity of E-Mods which placed even more work on the auditors because sometimes the E-Mods were doubling and tripling the premiums during this time period. (R. p. 639, l. 5 - l. 18).

Ms. Holmon then testified that Ms. Carla Johnson in the fall of 2002 was out a good bit due to her back injury and that this put additional stress on her and Mr. Menie. (R. p. 640, l. 19 - 642, l. 19). By December 31st Mr. Menie was the lone auditor as she had left for another job and Ms. Johnson was out for back surgery. (R. p. 624, ll. 11-21; 640, ll. 24-25).

She was then questioned about the evaluation of Mr. Menie conducted by Mr. Ross Gamble, Executive Deputy Director for the Agency. (R. p. 259-262). In the October 10, 2003 evaluation under "SUMMARY AND IMPROVEMENT PLAN", the Deputy Director noted:

"Al is to be commended for the personal initiative he took during the late 2002 and early 2003 time when he voluntarily took on extra duties while we were short two premium auditors to make sure that all policy transactions were completed on a timely basis. During this same time, he continued to make every effort to delight all customers needing assistance."

Ms. Holmon testified Mr. Gamble also reviewed her job performance; that she had worked with Mr. Menie for many years; and that she agreed with the comment that Mr. Menie was diligent and highly customer focused. Further, based on her experience with Mr. Menie, her observations of him on a day-to-day basis, she would describe him as diligent, as an excellent employee, that he was very personable, and that he would definitely try his very best to make people happy. (R. p. 645, l. 1 - 646, l. 20). In reference to her/their normal and usual job duties as an auditor and the job duties to which Mr. Menie was exposed beginning January 2003 when the two auditors were out of the Auditing Department, Ms. Holmon testified:

"Q: Now, I think -- and I don't want to mischaracterize your testimony, but I think you said that you would describe your job as being as far as your workload, when you were there as an auditor, as being full; that you were able to get the job done, but it was a full workload?

A: Yes.

Q: Now, knowing those, your usual duties, and knowing your ordinary and common duties and ordinary -- your usual and ordinary duties and that you had a full workload to do those, if you had to do all of the duties -- in your opinion as an auditor with the State Accident Fund, knowing what the job requires, knowing all that, and you all of a sudden had to do all of the duties of all three auditors in the entire Auditing Department, in your opinion would that be unusual and extraordinary to the normal conditions, your usual and ordinary occupation?

* * *

A: Yes.

(R. p. 646, l. 21 - 647, l. 21).

Commissioner Lyndon then asked the witness:

"BY THE COMMISSIONER:

The reason I ask those questions, what has been objected to, he was asking -- he used exactly the definition of unusual and extraordinary conditions to employment. Was that unusual for -- and I'll note your objection, Mr. Haselden -- for a person to have to handle by himself or by herself?

BY THE WITNESS:

600 accounts? Extremely unusual. That is the kind of thing that, yeah, you might be able to get by with doing it for awhile, but you'd probably be looking for another job, which had something to do with me looking for another job."

(R. p. 650, ll. 8-20).

Finally, she testified that Mr. Ross Gamble, the Deputy Director, had come from Seibel's & Bruce and had experience in auditing and the experience modifiers. However, if he hired someone to come in and replace an auditor and even if they had experience in the area of auditing there would be a learning curve of having to learn the process at the State Accident Fund before they would be of a tremendous amount of benefit in helping to alleviate the workload (e.g., the State Accident Fund did not use the insurance industry standard NCCI Codes). Also, a new employee would require one of the auditors to take on the additional responsibilities to train the individual who was brought in. This fell on Mr. Menie in March 2003 as the only

auditor there when the new auditor was hired; Mr. Warren Farray.
(R. p. 654; 657; 661-662).

Mr. Menie then testified and confirmed Ms. Holmon's testimony that in the fall of 2002 there were three (3) auditors in the Auditing Department and that the new computer system was giving them a lot of problems particularly with the experience modifiers,

"The people that were doing it, the computer techs that were doing it from the IT Department, they would submit the experience modifiers to us, the three (3) auditors, and we were to verify all the data in there as being accurate and which we would find a problem that they didn't see and we would resubmit it back to them and tell them we can't use these experience modifiers because they are, you know, wrong."

This was a constant, repetitive problem requiring resubmission numerous times. (R. p. 671, l. 6 - 675, l. 2).

At R. p. 681, l. 12 - p. 685, l. 12, Mr. Menie described his work duties beginning on January 2, 2003 when he came back to work without the other two auditors and testified that he now had to answer questions from all of the state, local and county agencies; that he spent the first 2 ½ days alone trying to answer all of the questions on his voicemail which contained 25 voicemails before it was full and that it was constantly full; that he had to answer the telephone calls for all three (3) telephone lines, including all (800) calls and all direct calls;

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