THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Alison Renee Lee, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

FEB 17 2017

SC Court of Appeals

Case No. 2012-CP-40-8296
Appellate Case No. 2016-001031

Alvin L. Menie,

Appellant,

v.

State Accident Fund,

Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Andrew E. Haselden
Howser, Newman & Besley, LLC
Post Office Box 12009
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
Phone: (803) 758-6000
Fax: (803) 758-4445
ahaselden@hnblaw.com
Attorney for Respondent

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Alison Renee Lee, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2012-CP-40-8296

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

⁷ Dr. Hendricks, when examining Menie's actual history, stated that, "[t]he atrial fibrillation part of his problem *is clearly related to Agent Orange as far as I could discern . . .*" *R.* at p. 168 (*emphasis added*).

- Morbid obesity (in excess of 300 pounds);
- Sleep apnea;
- Hypertension;
- Sick sinus syndrome; and
- Diabetes.

See R. at p. 292. As Dr. Zile's opinions were based on a review of actual medical evidence, the SCWCC properly afforded it the proper evidentiary value it deserved. See Tiller v. National Health Center of Sumter, 334 S.C. 333, 513 S.E.2d 843 (1999); Potter v. Spartanburg County School District 7, 395 S.C. 17, 716 S.E.2d 123 (Ct. App. 2011)(addressing the SCWCC's rights and duties to balance conflicting medical testimony with other lay evidence in the record).

Based on the above, the SCWCC correctly determined that Menie failed to meet his burden of proving that the atrial fibrillation was proximately caused by unusual and extraordinary job duties with the SAF. In doing so, the SCWCC relied on the whole of the evidence in the record rather than just the evidence favorable to Menie. The SCWCC did not base its decision on surmise, conjecture, or innuendo, but rather on actual facts. As such, the SAF contends that this Court should uphold the determination of the SCWCC (and the Circuit Court) that Menie's claim is not compensable.

II. THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY DETERMINED THAT CONSIDERATION OF CERTAIN TESTIMONY BY THE SCWCC REGARDING THE AUDITOR POSITION DID NOT IMPACT THE ULTIMATE DETERMINATION AS TO COMPENSABILITY

Menie argues that the SCWCC should not have allowed into evidence the testimony of Adair and Murphy with respect to the question of whether one auditor could handle the job without difficulty. The Circuit Court determined that Adair's testimony should not have been considered by the SCWCC. The SAF declined to appeal that determination even though it strongly disagrees. With respect to Murphy's testimony, which the Circuit Court determined was properly considered by the SCWCC, the SAF contends that Menie did not object to Murphy's testimony regarding the fact that at other times in the past the SAF only had one (1) premium auditor. *See R.* at pp. 733-734. As such, Menie has waived any argument with respect to the admission of that evidence. *See Noisette v. Ismail*, 304 S.C. 56, 403 S.E.2d 122 (1991) (holding that an appellate court may not address an issue where a trial court does not explicitly rule on it and appellant makes no Rule 59(e) motion to obtain a ruling); *Talley v. South Carolina Higher Educ. Tuition Grants Comm.*, 289 S.C. 483, 347 S.E.2d 99 (1986) (holding an issue raised, not ruled upon by trial court, and not subject of Rule 59(e) motion was not preserved on appeal).

If, however, this Court determines that the argument is persevered for appeal, Menie's argument ignores the rule that great liberality is exercised in permitting the introduction of evidence in proceedings under the Act. *See Ham v. Mullins*, 193 S.C. 66, 7 S.E.2d 712 (1940); *see also Smith v. South Carolina Dept. of Mental Health*, 329 S.C. 485, 494 S.E.2d 630 (Ct. App. 1998) (holding that a hearing

commissioner has the discretion under the Administrative Procedures Act to limit or exclude irrelevant testimony). The SAF contends that Murphy's testimony was properly admitted in light of the fact that the whole of the evidence establishes clearly that the premium auditor job is not unusually stressful even if performed by one (1) person.

The Circuit Court determined that although the SCWCC's reliance on Adair's testimony was an error of law, the "error was harmless" in light of the plethora of other evidence that supported the SCWCC's findings. *R.* at pp. 52-58. Harmless errors by the SCWCC do not warrant reversal unless they are prejudicial. *See Eadie v. H.A. Sack Co.*, 322 S.C. 164, 470 S.E.2d 397 (Ct. App. 1996)(holding a purported "industry standard" was not a fact properly subjected to judicial notice, but that the SCWCC's error in considering it was harmless and thus not subject to reversal.); *Triple "F", Inc. v. Gerrard*, 298 S.C. 44, 378 S.E.2d 67 (Ct. App.1989) (holding that even if testimony should have been allowed, the exclusion of it was not prejudicial and, therefore, would amount to harmless error); *JKT, Co. v. Hardwick*, 274 S.C. 413, 265 S.E.2d 510 (1980)(holding an error not shown to be prejudicial does not constitute grounds for reversal). The SAF contends that in light of the **massive amount** of evidence that supports the SCWCC's determination that Menie's development of atrial fibrillation was not compensable, the mere consideration of Adair's testimony on a minor issue certainly amounted to nothing more than harmless error and was certainly not prejudicial in the least.

III. THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY AFFIRMED THE SCWCC'S DETERMINATION THAT CERTAIN WORK CONDITIONS ARE NOT UNUSUAL AND EXTRAORDINARY.

Menie argues that the Circuit Court erred in affirming the SCWCC's finding that labor turnover, illness of co-workers, and computer problems are common and are not unusual as our appellate courts have found that these factors can constitute unusual and extraordinary conditions in employment. In support of this contention, Menie cites Stokes v. First National Bank, 306 S.C. 46, 410 S.E.2d 248 (1990). However, a reading of that case reveals that the only factors the Court considered were longer work hours.⁸ Moreover, in the case of Lockridge v. Santens of America, Inc., 344 S.C. 511, 544 S.E.2d 842 (Ct. App. 2001), the Court denied benefits where one of the alleged "causes" of Lockridge's heart attack was the fact he was doing the work of two (2) people.

In this case, the SCWCC correctly found and the Circuit Court affirmed that labor turnover, illness of co-workers, and computer problems are common and not unusual. When such factors rise to an extreme level, which is clearly not the case with respect to Menie, then they can obviously become factors. However, in and of themselves, labor turnover, illness of co-workers, and computer problems are commonplace in all employment sectors.

⁸ Although the Court noted that Stokes' longer work hours were in part attributable to the resignation of one of his managers, "labor turnover" in and of itself was not mentioned as a factor constituting an unusual or extraordinary condition of employment.

IV. THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY DETERMINED THAT THE OPINIONS OF DR. ZILE OFFERED INTO EVIDENCE BY THE RESPONDENT CONSTITUTED SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT THE DETERMINATION OF THE SCWCC.

Menie's last assignment of error concerns the Circuit Court's reliance on the opinion of Dr. Zile for support of its affirmation of the SCWCC's determination that Menie's claim was not compensable. Contrary to an erroneous statement in the Initial Appellant's Brief,⁹ there was absolutely no objection on the record to the submission of Dr. Zile's report being submitted into evidence at the hearing on January 30, 2012.¹⁰ Further, Menie never raised any issue with consideration of Dr. Zile's report by any determining body until he submitted his Initial Appellant's Brief. *See Notice of Appeal (May 11, 2016)(and attachments thereto)*. Most importantly, although Dr. Zile's opinions were specifically referenced in the Circuit Court's Order dated November 3, 2015, Menie did not address this "perceived error" on the part of the Circuit Court in his Motion to Reconsider, which preceded the Circuit Court issuing a second Order altering its opinion solely about the admissibility of Adair's testimony. *See Memorandum in Support of Motion for a New Trial, Reconsideration, and/or [to] Alter or Amend and/or to Vacate and Remand Pursuant to SCRCR Rule 59(a)(e); Rule 60(b)*. As such, the issue is not properly before this Court.

"It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for

⁹ *Final Brief of Appellant*, pp. 43-44.

¹⁰ Menie objected to an attachment to the report of Dr. Zile (CardioSmart: Atrial Fibrillation, *Defendant's APA Submissions* at p. 34), but not to Dr. Zile's report itself. *See R.* at pp. 618-623; 5.

appellate review.” Wilder Corp. v. Wilke, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998) (citing Creech v. South Carolina Wildlife and Marine Resources Dep’t, 328 S.C. 24, 491 S.E.2d 571 (1997)). In order to preserve an issue for appellate review, “[t]he issue must have been (1) raised to and ruled upon by the trial court, (2) raised by the appellant, (3) raised in a timely manner, and (4) raised to the trial court with sufficient specificity.” S.C. Dept. of Transp. v. First Carolina Corp. of S.C., 372 S.C. 295, 301-02, 641 S.E.2d 903, 907 (2007). “[A]n objection must be sufficiently specific to inform the trial court of the point being urged by the objector.” Id. (citing Broom v. Southeastern Highway Contracting Co., 291 S.C. 93, 352 S.E.2d 302 (Ct. App. 1986). See Dixon v. Besco Eng’g, Inc., 320 S.C. 174, 463 S.E.2d 636 (Ct. App. 1995) (holding that issues on which the trial judge never ruled and which were not raised in a post-trial motion are not preserved for appeal); United Dominion Realty Trust, Inc. v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., 307 S.C. 102, 413 S.E.2d 866 (Ct. App. 1992) (holding that where the circuit court sitting on appeal did not address an issue and appealing party made no motion pursuant to Rule 59(e) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure to have it rule on the issue, the allegation was not preserved for further review by the Court of Appeals).

“Imposing this preservation requirement on the appellant is meant to enable the lower court to rule properly after it has considered all relevant facts, law, and arguments.” I’On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000). “Without an initial ruling by the trial court, a reviewing court simply would not be able to evaluate whether the trial court committed error.” S.C. Dept. of Transp. v. M & T Enter., 379 S.C. 645, 658-59, 667 S.E.2d 7, 15 (Ct. App. 2008) (citing

Staubes v. City of Folly Beach, 339 S.C. 406, 412, 529 S.E.2d 543, 546 (2000). Accordingly, “it is a litigant’s duty to bring to the court’s attention any perceived error, and the failure to do so amounts to a waiver of the alleged error.” S.C. Dept. of Transp., 372 S.C. at 301, 641 S.E.2d at 907 (citing Parks v. Morris Homes Corp., 245 S.C. 461, 471, 141 S.E.2d 129, 134 (1965). “[E]ven if an issue is preserved at the trial court level, it must still be properly raised and argued to the appellate court.” S.C. Dept. of Transp., 379 S.C. at 658-59, 667 S.E.2d at 15. “[I]ssues not argued in the brief are deemed abandoned and will not be considered on appeal.” Fields v. Fields, 342 S.C. 182, 191 n.8, 536 S.E.2d 684, 689 n.8 (Ct. App. 2000) (citing First Sav. Bank v. McLean, 314 S.C. 361, 363, 444 S.E.2d 513, 514 (1994)); *see also* Glasscock, Inc. v. U.S. Fid. and Guar. Co., 348 S.C. 76, 81, 557 S.E.2d 689, 691 (Ct. App. 2001) (“[A] one sentence paragraph raised in an appellant’s brief was insufficient to preserve the issue for appeal.”).

For all intents and purposes, Menie is attempting to raise this issue at this level, a maneuver that is barred by both the decisions of our appellate courts and the South Carolina Rules of Appellate Procedure. *See* Rule 220, SCACR. If, however, this Court **does** consider Menie’s argument to properly be before it, the SAF submits that it has no real merit. Menie argues that because the SCWCC did not specifically mention Dr. Zile anywhere in either of its Orders, the Circuit Court improperly mentioned Dr. Zile’s opinions in its Orders. The Order from the Hearing Commissioner, however, contains the following finding of fact:

16. After considering *all of the evidence*, I find Claimant failed to prove his heart condition was a result of unusual and extraordinary conditions of employment.

R. at p. 18 (*emphasis added*). “All of the Evidence” certainly includes the opinions of Dr. Zile, which were not objected to by Menie. “All of the Evidence” also logically includes (1) all matters submitted pursuant to the APA that were not objected to and excluded from evidence, and (2) the admissible testimony of the witnesses at the hearing. Conversely, Menie would have this Court interpret “All of the Evidence” to mean only that which is favorable.

Assuming this Court (1) determines that Menie’s argument is properly before it and (2) entertains the notion that he has somehow offered an effective objection to consideration of Dr. Zile’s opinions almost ***five (5) years after the hearing in this matter***, the SAF asserts that the remaining portion of Menie’s argument that Dr. Zile’s opinions do not meet the requisite evidentiary standard on this issue is equally without merit. Menie argues that Dr. Zile’s report should not be considered because it was (1) merely a record review and because Dr. Zile never saw Menie in person, and (2) that Dr. Zile’s opinion is deficient because it does consider the “unusual and extraordinary conditions” of Menie’s employment.

First and foremost, the fact that Dr. Zile never saw Menie in person does not render his opinion deficient. “Expert testimony retains its competency unless it is ‘palpably absurd,’ even when there is a difference of opinion between experts. An expert’s opinion does not lose its probative value when the expert has not personally examined the claimant.” Beard, Poteat, Lamar, Sumwalt, Bluestein, Sullivan, *The Law of Workers’ Compensation Insurance in South Carolina*, 6th Ed. (2012), §XXIII.B at p. 451 (citing *Smith v. Southern Builders*, 202 S.C. 88, 24 S.E. 109

(1943). In this case the SAF submitted **without objection** the written opinion of Dr. Zile. Dr. Zile is a highly qualified expert in cardiology both through his career as a practicing physician and in his role as a professor/researcher at MUSC. Dr. Zile notes that he reviewed the following records before issuing his opinion:

1. Deposition of Charles W. Hendricks, M.D.
2. Office visit 2/03/2011 - Dr. Hendricks
3. Office visit 10/07/2010 - Dr. Hendricks
4. Office visit 2/18/2004 - Dr. Hendricks
5. Office visit 2/21/2003 - Dr. Hendricks
6. Hospitalization - Lexington Medical Center 3/04/2003
7. *CardioSmart*: atrial fibrillation article
8. Communication between Preston McDaniel and Dr. Hendricks
11/01/2010
9. JNC7 full report

R. at p. 292. After reviewing that information, Dr. Zile offered the following opinion:

I was asked to address the causality for the development of atrial fibrillation in Alvin L. Menie beginning March 4, 2003. I believe to a reasonable degree of medical certainty that this patient's atrial fibrillation was caused by pre-existing and underlying cardiovascular disease processes including but not limited to morbid obesity, sleep apnea, hypertension, sick sinus node syndrome, and diabetes. I do not believe that stress, anxiety or physical work load related to his job contributed to the development of atrial fibrillation was preexisting cardiovascular and cardiovascular related diseases and not changes in his work environment which resulted in him developing a clinical syndrome of atrial fibrillation.

Id. As is obvious, Dr. Zile did in fact take into account Menie's claims of unusual and extraordinary conditions of employment. However, after careful analysis of all of the **facts** presented to him, Dr. Zile determined that Menie's physical condition and medical history were clearly the root cause of Menie's development of atrial fibrillation. As stated previously, Menie was a walking "time bomb" with respect to

the development of atrial fibrillation and it would have been a wonder if he had not developed it at all.


With respect to Menie's argument that Dr. Zile's report is nothing more than "hearsay within hearsay," the argument appears fallacious in light of the fact that the APA specifically provides for the submission of medical records without the offeror having to provide witness testimony as to their authenticity, etc. Further, Menie's discounting of Dr. Zile's opinion on this basis contradicts his offering of the medical opinions of his treating physician, which are based on hearsay and contrived hypotheticals that are not factual in nature. *See R.* at pp. 75-81.

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